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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

IN RE APOLLO GROUP, INC.| Lead Case No. C\M0-1735-PHX-JAT
SECURITIES LITIGATION,
Consolidated with:
CV-10-2044-PHX-JAT
CV-10-2121-PHX — JAT

ORDER

Pending before the Court are: Daflants’ Motion regarding Non-Complianc
with ER 4.2 (Doc. 115) andefendants’ Motion to Dismissmended Consolidated Clas
Action Complaint (Doc. 117). The Court now rules on these motions.

|.  BACKGROUND'

This is a consolidated class actioroggeding. Defendant Apollo Group, Ing.

(“Apollo”) is an Arizona based compgnthat owns and operates proprieta
postsecondary education instians and is one of the larggmivate education providers
in the United StatesIn re Apollg 2011 WL 5101787 at *1The remaining Defendants
are various individuals who served as Apabfficers and directors between May 2]
2007 and October 13, 2010 (the “Class &#9i. Plaintiffs purchased Apollo stock
during the Class Period.

The Court previously dismissed Plaifgti Consolidated Cles Action Complaint,

' For a more detailed description othackground and facts, see the Cour
Order of October 27, 2011n re Apollo Group, Inc. Securities LitigatipiNo. CV-10-
1735-PHX-JAT, 2011 WL 51017&%. Ariz. Oct. 27, 2011).
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finding that Plaintiffs failed to state a alaiupon which relief could be granted because
they failed to meet the stdard for pleading securities rid. Specifically, the Court
found that Plaintiffs failed tadequately plead loss causation auienter. Plaintiffs then
amended their Consolidated Class Action Clammp and Defendants now seek to dismiss
the Amended Complaint.

Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint (Doc. 114pntains allegations that, during thie
Class Period, Defendants made false and misigalatements of material fact regarding
Apollo’s (1) enrollment and revenue growi@ount 1), (2) financial condition (Count Il),
(3) organizational values andanagement integrity (Count 1V), and (4) business fo¢us
(Count I1l) and/or failed to disclose materfacts necessary to makiee statements not
misleading in violation ofsection 10(b) of the SecuriieExchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Securities and Exalge Commission Rule 19-5 (“Rule 10(b)-
57). Plaintiffs further allege that these faland misleading statements and/or omissions
resulted in artificial inflation of Apollo stock that led Plaintiffs to purchase common
stock at artificially inflated prices.

In Counts V and VII, Plaintiffs allegthat, during the Class Period, Defendants
John Sperling, Peter Sperling, Joseph D’Amniand William Pepicello sold Apollo stock
while in possession of material, adverse, pablic information inviolation of sections
10(b) and 20A of the Exchange Act and Rule 10(b)-5.

In Count VI, Plaintiffsallege that, during the ClasPeriod, Defendants John
Sperling, Peter Sperling, Joseph D’Amidgeregory Capelli, Charke Edelstein, Brian
Swartz, Brian Mueller, and Ggery Iverson violated sectia20(a) of the Exchange Act
because each was a controlling person whoduatt and supervisory involvement in
day-to-day operations of Apolland, as such, each is jiynand severally liable for the
violations of section 10(b) of tHexchange Act and Rule 10(b)-5.

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs have faite correct the deficiencies that led the

Court to dismiss the Consadited Class Action Complaint, and move to dismiss the

—

Amended Complaint based on Plaintiffs’ alldg®ilure to plead a plausible theory @
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fraud as required by Federal Rsilef Civil Procedure 8(a), failure to state a claim up

which relief can be granted as required Fgderal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6

failure to plead fraud with particularity asquired by Federal Rudeof Civil Procedure

9(b), and for failure to meethe heightened pleading q@rements of the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act (“PSLRA").
. LEGAL STANDARD

A pleading that states a claim for reliafist contain “a short and plain stateme

of the claim showing that the pleader is entitte relief.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 8(a)(2). The

complaint must allegenough facts so #h the claim is plausible on its fac&ell Atl.
Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). Seities fraud actions are also subject {
the heightened pleading standl®af Federal Rule of CiviProcedure 9(b), which requires
Plaintiffs to “state with particularity thercumstances constituting trd.” To satisfy this
standard, the party alleging fraud must i an account of the “time, place, arn
specific content” of any “false representati@sswell as the identitiesf the parties to the
misrepresentation.’Edwards v. Man Park, Inc, 356 F.3d 1058,d66 (9th Cir. 2004).
Further, when seeking to enforce fedeantifraud securities laws, privats

plaintiffs must meet the gher, more exacting pleading standards contained in

PSLRA. See Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights,, 1381 U.S. 308, 313-314 (2007).

“The required elements of a privatecsrities fraud action are: (1) a materi
misrepresentation or omission faict, (2) scienter, (3) a coaation with the purchase o
sale of a security, (4)dnsaction and loss causatiand (5) economic loss.Metzler Inv.

GMBH v. Corinthian Colls., In¢.540 F.3d 1049, 1061 (9th rICi2008). To meet the
pleading requirements for such an action, RIS.RA requires that “the complaint shal
with respect to each act or omission . . . state with paatitplfacts giving rise to a
strong inference that the defendant acted withrequired state of mind.” 15 U.S.C.
78u-4(b)(2). The “inference of scientenust be more than merely plausible
reasonable—it must be cogent and at leastoaspelling as any opposing inference

nonfraudulent intent."Metzler, 540 F.3d at 1066.

-3-

14

o

J7

d

U

the

o

r




© 00 N O O b~ W N P

N N NN NN NNDNRRRRR R R R R
0w ~N o 00~ W NP O © 00N O 0 W N P O

The PSLRA also requires thdhe complaint shll specify each statement allege
to have been misleading, thesen or reasons why the statetriemmisleading, and, if an
allegation regarding the statement or sson is made on information and belief, th
complaint shall state with pagularity all facts on which that belief is formed.” 1
U.S.C. 8§ 78u-4(b)(1). This requirement osiicity “prevents a @intiff from skirting
dismissal by filing a complaint laden withguze allegations of @eption unaccompanied
by particularized explanation stating why ttefendant’s alleged statements or omissia
are deceitful.”Metzler, 540 F.3d at 1061.

In ruling on a 12(b)(6) motion to dismsisn a securities fraud action, the Court

must accept all factual allegations in the complaint as t8ee Tellahs551 U.S. at 322.
The Court must consider theroplaint in its entirety, mat&ls incorporat¢d into the
complaint by reference, and matterswifich a court may take judicial notiéeld. at
322-23.
[Il.  ANALYSIS
A. FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS

d

e

ns

The underlying theory pled in the Am#ed Complaint is that Defendants engaged

in unethical marketing and resting practices and made statemis that were designed f
either mislead their investoos omit material information &m their investors regarding
these unethical marketing amecruiting practices, and, as result of this misleading
and/or omitted information, Rintiffs purchased ApolldCommon Stock at artificially
inflated prices. Further, Plaintiffs allegihat Defendants knew that the unethic
marketing and recruiting practices wouloicrease Apollo’'s write-offs due to
uncollectibility of the receivalel, and yet, Defendantortinually failed to record
adequate bad debt reserve.

1. Enrollment and Revenue Growth (Count I)

> The Court has only considered docutsencorporated byeference into the

Amended Complaint and has not taken quali notice of any other information
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a. Statements

Plaintiffs allege that the following stahents regarding enrollment and reven
growth were false and/or misleading:

In 10-K filings for fiscal years 20062007, 2008, and 200%pollo reported
enrollment and revenue growth as “significenents” and attribed the enrollment and
revenue growth to the qualitgf the educational servicdseing offered by Apollo’s
schools. (Doc. 114 at 1 65-66). With theception of the 2009 10-K, each containg

the following statement:

We believe that our track reebfor enrollment and revenue
growth is attributable to owffering comprehensive services
combining quality ducational content, teaching resources
and customer service with rfoats that are accessible and
easy to use for students as well as corporate clients. We
maintain a single-minded focus on providing quality
education to serve the needs of working students.

(Id. at 67). The 2009 10-K stated:

We believe the enrollment growth primarily attributable to
continued investments in leancing and expanding [UOP
service offerings and academguality, which has attracte
new students and increased student retention, and to
enhancements in our marketing capabilities.

(Id. at 68).

During an October 28, 2008 confereraal with analysts, Defendant D’Amicg

stated,

for the fourth quarter we repodeonsolidated net revenue of
831 million, a 16.5% increaseThe primary contributor to
this growth was our 15.4% tad enrollment growth, which
was driven by very strong weenrollment growth of 19.1%
and continued improvement irstudent retention _—
Academic quality is key to th&uccess of our business and is
the foundation on which we aeble to achieve the results |
just discussed.

(Id. at 69).

In 10Q filings in 2009 ah 2010, Apollo stated that believed its enroliment

growth was primarily attributable to contied investments in enhancing and expand

e
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University of Phoenix servecofferings and academic diiyaand marketing capabilities,
which has attracted new studeatsl increased student retenti and that this enrollmen
growth, in turn, was the primary or maiause of its increased revenutd. &t Y 69-72).

Plaintiffs allege that byputting the source of Aglm’s enrollment and revenue

growth in issue, Defendants became obligatedisclose the truth about the source

that growth” and “Defendants failed to do so.ld.(at § 73). Plaintiffs allege that the

“truth was that Apollo’s emliment growth during the Cés Period was not due to UOP’
service offerings or purported ‘academic lifyd but rather was the result of a plethor
of unsavory, unethical, and deceptive uwiftnent practices #t the Company had
employed for the sake of eling anyone—regardless of ability—who would be eligib
for Title IV aid.” (Id.). Plaintiffs claim that Apollo’sevenue growth was also a result (
those deceptive recruitment practices aanipulative accounting practicesd.)’

Plaintiffs further allege that it was Afjo’s questionable recruiting practices ari
not Apollo’s purportedly strong academic sees and offerings that were the true sour
of Apollo’s seemingly impressiveevenue and enroliment resultdd. @t § 75). Plaintiffs

allege that “Apollo’s business model was td ge many students gsssible to enroll in

its institutions regardless of whether thesglshts were suited for college, had an ability

® Plaintiffs give these examples Befendants’ allegedly false and misleadir]

statements and assert that “Defendants miade numerous other statements during |
Class Period attributing the Company’s enrollment and revenue growth to aca
guallty.” (Doc. 114 at % 69). In granting Plaintiffs leave to amend in its October

011 Order, this Court directed Plaintiffsspecifically identify tle materially false and
misleading statements that Defendantsle that the investors relied updn.re Apollg
2011 WL 5101787, at *20. Accordinglthe Court will not comb through thimerous
documents incorporated by reference tire Complaint to tryto determine which
numerousother statements Plaintiffs may beliease materially false and misleading
especially where Plaintiff has the burdeh alleging specific false and misleadin
statements that Defendants knewbe false, and that the rkat later understood to be
false. Cf. In re Oracle Corp. Securities Litigatip27 F.3d 376, 386 (9 Cir. 2010) (“It
behooves litigants, partlcular_I%/ in a case wathrecord of this magtude, to resist the
temptation to treat judges as if thegre pigs sniffing for truffles.”).

. Accordingly, the Court will only addss the alleged materially false ar
misleading statements tHalaintiff has identified.
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to pay for an education, or indeed leay probability of obtaiing a degree.” I¢. at 74).

Plaintiffs allege that Apollo carried outhis business model through well-hone

,

aggressive marketing tactics that pressustudents to sign up for classes and misled

those students about the cost of obtainingedmcation and their financial obligation t

repay loans borrowed thrgh Title IV programs. I¢l. at 75)?

Defendants argue that these statemargspuffery and/or statements of opinign

D

that were not both objectively and subjectiaise and cannot be a basis for a securitjes

fraud claim. Statements that are inherestlpjective would not induce the reliance of
reasonable investorSee In re Action Performance Cpamies Inc. Securities Litigation
No. C-97-20609 RMW, 2007 WL 496770, & (D. Ariz. Mar. 31, 2007) (“Vague

statements of opinion are rexttionable under the federal satias laws because they ar

considered immaterial and discounted by rirerket as mere ‘puffing.” No matter how

untrue a statement may be, it is not actionablkeisfnot the type of statement that would

*  The Court notes that Plaintiffs includearious allegations concerning Apollo’

a

[1°)

U7

unethical treatment of its employees aitsl students. The Court assumes thgse

allegations are true for the purposes of Mistion to Dismiss. Nonetheless, the Courf

notes that it is the obligatioaf this Court to determinevhether or not Plaintiff has

sufficiently stated a claim fosecurities fraud Plaintiffs include various allegations

relating to the type of markag and recruiting thafpollo should have engaged in an
sharply criticize Apollo’s marketing and recrai practices. It is ndiefore the Court in

this case to determine how Apollo shouldve handled its marketing and recruitir
ractices — rather, the issue lreféthe Court is whether Plaiffis adequately alleged thai

efendants statements to investors about etaxtx and recruiting were either materiall
false or raised a duty on Defendants’ parefaborate on those statements because t
were materially misleading.

If so, the Court must determine if Daflants knew that thestatements about

U

(o]

%ey

marketing and recruiting were materially &ksnd/or misleading, and whether the market

reacted to disclosures that ralexl these statements were mathy false and misleading.
The Court makes this clamfation because, in ¢hComplaint and # Response to the
Motion to Dismiss, it appearthat, at times, Plaintiffs g the forest for the trees b
focusing on allegations concerniAgollo’s past bad behaviordhis not at all relevant to
the facts of this case and allegations of unethical treatment of students and emp
which are only relgant inasmuch as theP/ state aiwl for securities fraud, but are ng
themselves instances of satias fraud. Plaintif ) )

events occurring after the Class Period, failt to connect suclallegations to their
claims. Such pleading sg/ltends to convolute the arguments and leave the C
searching to connect allegatiotieat may or may not be related to each other or to
case at hand. It was this type of pleading bdithe Court to advisBlaintiffs to delete
%upllc?t_e tand irrelevant allegations andsteeamline their arguménin their Amended

omplaint.
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significantly alter the total mix of informaitn available to investors. Vague, amorpho
statements are not actionable becauseonmdde investors do not consider ‘sof
statements or loose predictioimgportant in making investré decisions. Such generg
statements about business models are seentually every publicstatement companies
make.”) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

The Court agrees thatabe statements are inhdigrsubjective and would not
induce the reliance of a reasonable inves®ee Plevy v. Haggert$8 F.Supp.2d 816,
827-828 (C.D. Cal. 1998) (Countld that statements thedmpany’s success was due {
“crisp execution on the time, performancdjatality and quality ofits products,” that
company expected growth armualige opportunity in the fure, that products “have 3§
tradition of technological kdership, with nnovative features and significan
performance advantages, that results “cleddgnonstrate the inherent advantages of

business model and that teefwas a strong demand rfats products” were “best

described as hyperbole or corporate puffexyiere Plaintiffs failed to adequately plead

that such statements were used topleasis or induce reliance on a material

misrepresentation.).

Plaintiffs argue that these statemeats not puffery because by attributing th
reasonfor Apollo’s revenue groth to marketing and enrollemt, but without disclosing
that unethical practices were being usedmarketing and enrollment, investors we
prevented from fairly assesgi the company’s future. In Response, Defendants ar
that they did disclose relevant factdating to Apollo’'s maketing and enrollment
practices, including enroliment numbers, rétamnumber, graduation rates, and the fe

that many of the students who attendagollo’s schools came from historically

[
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underserviced populations that might haverbeenied access at other institutions, and

thus, Plaintiffs cannot show that the marlets misled about facts regarding Apollo
marketing and enroliment practices.
Plaintiffs’ essential theory is that Defdants were required to disclose that,

marketing to prospective students, Defenslamged harassing and aggressive practi
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that would convince unqualified students taadin thus increasing Apollo’s revenue g
the time, but would not be allowed to ciowie because of future regulation of th
industry. The Court need hdecide whether omission of these specific marketing :
enrollment tactics in their se&nents could serve as a Isar a securities fraud clain
because Plaintiffs have failed to adequatglgge Defendants knew of such tactics
discussed more fully below.

b. Scienter

When proceeding under the PSLRA, Piifi;m “can no longer aver intent in
general terms of mere motive and opporturatyrecklessness, but rather, must sta
specific facts indicating no less than a degreecklessness that strgly suggests actua
intent.” Metzler,540 F.3d at 1066 (interngqlotations omitted). Plaiiffs must state with
particularity facts giving rise to a strong irdace that Defendants acted with the requir
state of mind.ld. For such an inference to qualifs “strong,” it “must be more thar
merely plausible or reasonable—it must dmgent and at least as compelling as
opposing inference of nonfraudulent intenlkd’ (quotingTellabs,551 U.S. at 324).

The Court “must engage in a comparatesvaluation; it must consider, not onl
inferences urged by plaintiff . . . but alsaygeeting inferences rationally drawn from th
facts alleged.Tellabs,551 U.S. at 314. Under thisastlard, “the Court must consideg
all reasonable inferences to be drawwonfr the allegations, including referencs
unfavorable to the plaintiffs.’Metzler,540 F.3d at 1061 (quoti@ompper v. VISX, Inc.,
298 F.3d 893, 897 (9th CiR002) (emphasis in original)). Where pleadings are

<
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sufficiently particularized or where, takenasvhole, they do not raise a strong inference

that misleading statements were made ingestors knowingly or with deliberatg
recklessness, a private securities fraud damp is properly dmissed under Rule
12(b)(6).”Ronconi v. Larkin253 F.3d 423, 429 (9th Cir. 2001).

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants kmethe true nature and source of tH
Company’s enrollment and revenue growth itfgh their senior-le®l positions within

Apollo and the fact that enliment represented the core of Apollo’s revenue baskl”
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at § 101). To adequately plead scienteajrfdff must plead more than Defendants my
have known of fraud badeon their positions ithin the company.See Zucco Partners
LLC v. Digimarc Corp.,552 F.3d 981, 998 (9th Cir. @9) (“generalized claims abou
corporate knowledge are not sufficient teate a strong infenee of scienter.”)Metzler,

540 F.3d at 1068 (“corporate managememfsneral awareness of the day-to-ds
workings of the company’s business does estbblish scienter—at least absent sot
additional allegation of specific information conveyed to management and related
fraud.”) (internal citation omitted). Plaifis have not sufficiently pleaded that th
alleged recruiting, marketing, and enrollmerdqtices were such that an individual in

senior level position must ti@ known about them, nor Ve Plaintiffs sufficiently

pleaded that these practices were sovgmve at the time Defendants made thei

statements that Defendants must havewn their statements were false.
Plaintiffs allege that Defendant D’Aoo knew his statemésn about marketing

and revenue were false andimisleading because, on kth 28, 2008, he met with

st

[

ne

o th

a

executives of Apollo to disss complaints the Department of Education (“DOE”) hiad

received from students that counselors wese adequately informing students of the
financial obligations. I¢l. at { 103).
Plaintiffs next allege that Confidential Witness (“CW”y 2aims that Defendants

Mueller, D’Amico, Capelli, Edelstein, Swartand Iverson knew #ir statements aboult

marketing and revenue werdsia and/or misleading becaudgring several meetings (the

time, place, date or other details of such tinge are not alleged), concerns were rais
about the fact that the Uravsity of Phoenix was marketing to unfit studentisl. &t 1
105-107).

~ > A complaint relying on statements finoconfidential witnesses to establis
scienter must meet two elements: (1) twmplaint must desdre the confidential
witnesses with sufficiency arghrticularity to establish #ir reliability ard knowledge,
and (2) the statements, which are repotgdconfidential witnesses with sufficien
reliability and personal knowtlge, must themselves be indicative of scienfercco
Partners, LLC v. Digimarc Corp552 F.3d 981, 995 (9th Cir. 2009).
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Plaintiffs also allege that Defendantsshhave knowrof unethical recruiting and
marketing practices (rendering their stateteeabout such falselpecause they were
compensated, in part, based on enroliment, making deceptive and unethical recry
tactics “virtually inevitable.” (d. at § 108). The Court notéisat this allegation says
nothing about Defendants’ scienter, butraher a conclusornassertion based or
unwarranted inferences made by Plaintiffs. In fact, nearly all of Plaintiffs’ allegat
regarding scienter are constry and based on general ageas that Defendants knew
about unethical recruiting and marketing preesi and, thus, must have known that th
statements about Apollo’s growth being linkednarketing and enrollment were false.

Plaintiffs allege that John Sperling mimstve known that Apollo’s compensatio
practices led recruiters to market todaenroll students who were “unfit” for UOP’s
programs because of complaintgldawsuits in P03 and 2004. 1. at 120). Plaintiffs
allege that CW11 claims John Speglirhired Defendants [Bmico, Capelli, and
Edelstein to make changdsyt the “evidence is overwheing that changes were neve
made.” (d. at { 120).

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants Miee and D’Amico must have known tha
statements attributing Apollo'snroliment and revenue growtiih academic quality were
false because they approvélte Company’s compensation structures and knew
compensation was based solay enrollment and other itgria in the performance
matrices “were just window dssing,” and, thus, were atkd reckless in not attributing

Apollo’s growth to the “enrollrant at all costs” approachld( at 121).

Plaintiffs also allege that Defendantiolated federal regulations, becaus

although they claimed to use a performantarix in determiningoonuses or incentive
compensation for employees, the use @& gerformance matrix was just a charaf
because incentive compsation was really the sole factor in determining sald
adjustments.

As with Plaintiffs’ original complaintthese allegations are generally conclusa

in that they rely on the assertion of what Defendants “must have known.” This i
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enough to establish a strong inference akrger or to link such an inference t
Defendants’ knowledge at the time the altigefalse or misleading statements we
made. See In re Apollp2011 WL 5101787, at *10 (“Rintiffs have listed fraudulent

practices engaged in by Daftants and have generally aesl Defendants’ knowledge

(5

Plaintiffs have made little attempt to link facts indicating actual knowledge on the part o

each Defendant to actual fraudulent practiceBaefendants . . . It is Plaintiffs’ burden to

establish &trong inferencef scienter.”).

C. L oss Causation and Corrective Disclosures

“To prove loss causatiorthe plaintiff must demorisate a causal connection

between the deceptive acts thatm the basis for the clai of securities fraud and the
injury suffered by the plaintiff.’Ambassador Hotel Co., Ltd. v. Wei—Chuan 1189

F.3d 1017, 1027 (@ Cir. 1999). “The compint must allege that the practices that the

plaintiff contends are fraudulent were rewshlto the market @hcaused the resulting
losses."Metzler,540 F.3d at 1063.

Plaintiffs allege that disosures in an earnings perelease and Form 10-Q on

\2-4

January 7, 2010 revealed thgpollo was providing inadequate information to students

about financial aid at the time of enrollmentd. @t § 123). Plaintiffs do not allege, an

it is not clear to the Court which of thelegled statements made by Defendants w

rendered false by this disclosur@ccordingly, Plaintiffs hee failed to adequately plead

loss causation related to false statemergarting marketing and enrollment made by

Defendants for the January 2010 disclosure.

Plaintiffs next allege that on August&)10, a Bloomberg arte speculated that g
Government Accountability Office (“GAO”)Report would reveakhat Apollo had
engaged in misleading marketing and therkegplace “correctly aicipated that the

GAO findings included conduct by Apollo schoofs.”

® As the Court held in its previous Ordegaeding these aIIegedI)é corrective disclosurg
Plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged facshowing how the fad¢hat for-profit schools
were being investigated wasderstood by the market aslization of widespread fraud
being conducted by Defendants at Apolee In re Apollo Group, Inc. Securitie
Litigation, 2011 WL 501787 at *18Metzler,540 F.3d 1064 (where Plaintiffs assertd

-12 -
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Thereafter, on August 4, 2010, théd@ Report was presented during a Senate
HELP Committee hearing and stwibed how “admissions representatives at the two
UOP campuses had: stated thategree would take four ges to complete, but provided
a one-year cost estimate of only 1/5 the meglicredit hours (thereby understating the
total cost); either overstated or failed tsalose the school’s graduation rate; encouraged
the applicant to pursue a Master's degree after completing the Bachelor's degre
purportedly because some countries pay teacim®re money thadoctors or lawyers;

encouraged the applicants tike out the full amount of student loans for which they
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gualified, even though the apgants did not need the monesuggested that unneeded
loan money could be placed in a high-intessstings account, witlut explaining to the

applicant that unsubsidized loans would beraiag interest during the time it was placed

in the savings account; and suggested that the applicant’'s $250,000 in savings might r

need to be reported on thadncial aid application.”d. at 114).

While Plaintiffs theorize that “these rdaBons . . . began to reveal to the publjc
that Apollo’s business was ittuon deceptive reciitment and enrollment practices|tl(
at § 127), it is again unclear to the Cowttich of the allegedstatements made by
Defendants were rendered false by this dmale or how Plaintiffs’ allegations of
Defendants’ scienter can be linked to sudsdatatements. Accargjly, Plaintiff has
failed to allege how this was a correctivedosure revealing Defendants’ fraud to the
market.

Plaintiffs next allege that, in a For&K filed with the SEE on August 6, 2010,
Apollo announced that it had received request from the HELP Committee far
information in conneatin with hearings relating to fgrrofit universitiesreceiving Title
IV student financial aid. Apollo then statdtat it would cooperate and comply with the

request, commence its own internal invesiaggaand acknowledged that it was going {o

that a disclosure made investors realizat tfere were fraudulent practices at one |of
Defendants’ schools, the Court held Plafstiiad failed to assert enough facts showing
that the market was alerted to Defendantsdespread fraud). This is especially
necessary in this case whehe allegedly corrective disdare was “speculation” that
some of the campuses discussed in thertémay have” been Apollo campuses.
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significantly tighten its enrollment practicesAgain, Plaintiffs fail to connect this
allegedly corrective disclosure to statememtade by Defendants.The fact that, in
response to an investigation, a compargul implement corrective measures to f

future problems does not rédsin the inference that the company or the compan

officers and directors knew that earlier staents made about the company’s practic¢

were knowingly false at the time they wered®aa Plaintiffs’ conclusory allegation that

“Apollo’s acknowledgement that would tighten its enrolimdmpractices was a signal tq
investors that Apollo was guilty of the tygef recruitment misconduct discussed in t

GAO report” does not add to tisecurities fraudanalysis — because it does not show th

a corrective disclosure revealdthat a past statement malg specific Defendants was

knowingly false.

Plaintiffs next allege that, on Octob&B, 2010, Apollo issed a press release¢

reporting declining enrollmenand slowing revenue growth and withdrew its fisc
forecast for 2011, citing increased regaigt scrutiny and implementation of new
initiatives that would result ifurther declining enrollment afew students. In that Pres
Release, Apollo stated that its goals wengpanding student protBons,” and “shifting
the mix of enrollment to more experienceidents who have greater likelihood of
succeeding in the Compga programs.” Id. at § 130). Plaintiffs allege that all of thes
remedial measures were taken as a diresiltr@f the public revation of previously-
undisclosed fraudulent and deceptive practlmed\pollo and its peers in the for-profi
education industry and thecireased regulatory scrutiny emgiered by those revelations
Again, Plaintiffs have not allegedcdia showing how this allegedly correctiv
disclosure relates to aecurities fraudanalysis—because it does not show that
corrective disclosure revealddat a past statement made by specific Defendants
knowingly false. This is ammportant distinction in secities fraud cases because if
company could be sued for securities frawery time it corrected problems discoverg
within the companywithout showing that Defendants were previously aware of th

problems and purposefully misregented the nature of theoplems to investors, ther
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every time a company tried to improve its iness, it would potentially be liable fol
securities fraud. Such a broad applicatiof the Securities il Exchange Act is
unwarranted.

2. Financial Condition (Count 11)

Plaintiffs allege that Apollo misrepreged its financial condition to investors

because it failed to record eguate bad debt reserves gonnection with accounts
receivable from students who withdrewid.(at 138). Plaintiffs also allege that Apoll
recorded tuition revenues fowskents that were earned prior to the students’ withdrav
but were not realized or realizable givéhe “likely uncolletibility” directly from
students after withdrawal, whenitl€ IV funds were returned.ld. at ff 139-148).
Plaintiffs allege that “because the colledlip of these pre-withdrawal tuition charge
was . . . highly doubtful, ...they should not have beegcorded as revenue under GAAFR
and Apollo should have recorded highesames and write-offs” in accordance wit
GAAP. (d. at 148).

Understatements of bad debt reserves can support a securities
fraud claim because companies are obliged to make
reasonable predictions abouhe collectability of their
accounts receivable. Underestimabédad debt reserves lead

to overstatement of income, camltimately inflation of stock
price. However, allefgatlonsshat ‘bad " debt reserves are
inadequate are insufficient; ghtiffs must allege with
articularity facts that showhe initial prediction was ‘a
alsehood. Even a delinquentrite-down of the impaired
assets, without anything moreloes not state a claim of
securities fraud, stating at bestbad business decision. To
meet the PSLRA’s pleading standard, Plaintiffs must allege
facts demonstrating that the decision not to write off bad
receivables . . . was such that no reasonable accountant would
Pave made the same decision if confronted with the same
acts.

Alaska Elec. PensioRund v. Adecco S.A371 F. Supp. 2d 1203213 -1215 (S.D. Cal.

2005) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Here, Plaintiffs make numerous allegatidnat collection of tuition from students

was highly doubtful and not reasonably assly but fail to make specific allegation
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showing that Defendants (iivilually or as a group)knew (aside from the assertion thj

Apollo knew from its historic collectionexperience that thesamounts would not be

collected) that such collectiomas highly doubtful and not asonably assured. Withouf

such allegations, there is no inference that Defendants knew their predictions reg
bad debt reserve wouldrtuout to be wrongSee In re Am. Appardic. S’holder Litig,
No. CV 10-06352 MMM(RCx), F.Supp.2d __, 2012 WL131684, at *27 -28 (C.D.
Cal. Jan. 13, 2012) (where “complaint fail[@¢d]allege what statements violated GAAF
why the statements were falslke amount by which they wenaisstated, what provisions
of GAAP were violated, how those provisiongre violated, and who was involved i
the alleged GAAP violations€ourt held “[w]ithout allegations detailing the inaccuraci
in the financial statements, the types dbrmation that defendants purportedly withhel
and the knowledge or parti@pon of the individual defedants in the withholding,
plaintiffs fail to plead scienter.”) (internal quotation omittekh);re Downey Sec. Litig.
No. CV 08-3261-JFW (RZx), ®9 WL 2767670, at *5 (O. Cal. Aug. 21, 2009)
(holding “[m]erely alleging thabad debt reserves were ieagate is insufficient becaus
even reasonable predictions turn out to bengr Instead, plaintiffs must allege witl
particularity facts that show theitial prediction was a falsehood ®).

Plaintiffs allege that various individl Defendants made statements in 2006 ¢
2007 that Apollo made significant progressr@mediating financial control deficiencie
after having to issue restatents in 2004, 206, and 2006.14. at 71 184-189). Plaintiffs

’ Although Plaintiffs rely on DefendaBtAmico’s statements during conferenc
calls during the class period that “[w]e ¢owe to believe ourlwance for doubtful
accounts is adequateftd( at § 177) to show that Defesats kryov_vmgl?; made materiall
misleading statements to investors, @asted above, Plaintiffs have failed ma
alle at:jo_ns showing how Defendant D’Amiémew these statements were materia
misleading.

8

dependent on their claims ah Defendants were misrepresenting its enrollment :
marketing practices and knebased upon these misrepresgates, that it was failing to
adequately record bad debt reserves amproperlﬁ/ recognizing revenue. Becau
Plaintiffs have failed to plead that Defenti&were knowingly making materially falsg
statements regarding marketing and enrefitm Plaintiffs accounting claims based ¢
this theory necssarily fail.
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allege that these statements “were materfallye and misleadingecause they indicated
that Defendants had actualhanged and improved Apollo’s internal control over
financial reporting and remediated the control deficies that gave rise to the materigl
weaknesses when, in fact the same nadt@reaknesses that plagued its 2004 and 2005
financial reporting continued to exist throutiie Class Period as the Company continyed
to improperly record thellawance for doubtful accountand bad debt reserves in
violation of GAAP.” (d. at 190). Plaintiffs allege &, although Defendants disclosed
that significant risks could occuegarding internal controlsuch risk statements werge
inadequate and materially mistkag because they failed thsclose that Apollo was not
maintaining sufficient intera controls at the time of the risk disclosuréd. &t 1 191-
192).

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs onlypport for their accounting allegations i

[92)

Plaintiffs’ analysis of trends they purport $ee in Apollo’s publicly reported financia
data, which was available to Apollo’s invet in the public dmain and thus cannot
support a securities fraud claim. Defendaalts argue that Plaintiffs have failed tp
adequately plead scienter because Plaintiffige not alleged th&efendants had actual
access to information that theémernal controls were defent and Plaintiffs completely|
ignore the fact thanternal controls must have ingwed during the Cks Period, because
although having to issue ragtments in 2004,0D5, and 2006, Apollo did not have tp
issue any restatements during after the Class Period. Plaintiffs argue that it|is
irrelevant that Defendants did not issue statement during or after the Class Periqd,
because Courts have held ttisg absence of a res¢ément does not erdplaintiff's case
when he has otherwise met the pleading requirements.

While it may be true that the absenceaakestatement does not automatically epd
Plaintiffs’ case, where, as here, Plaintiffsly on prior restateemts to prove that
Defendants knew that there weredequacies iheir internal financial controls anc
falsely made statements ththey had improved such financial controls, the absence of

any restatement after Defendants claimed to lmapeoved the financial controls actually

-17 -




© 00 N O O b~ W N P

N N NN NN NNDNRRRRR R R R R
0w ~N o 00~ W NP O © 00N O 0 W N P O

suggests that Defendants did improve the financial controls and, thus, raises the inferer

that their statements that the financial costweere improved were not materially falsg.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ reliance on allegatiored past financial control inadequacy d
not support a strong inference of sciented ®laintiffs have othevise failed to plead a

strong inference of scienter with regard to the financial condition statements.

3. IOVr)ganizationaI Values and Management Integrity (Count

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants madeseries of statemenduring the Class
Period regarding Apollo’sommitment to integrity and business ethickd. &t 11 226-
231). Plaintiffs allege that these statemafisut Apollo’s commitrant to integrity and

business ethics are plainly materially @&lbecause of Apollo’s student recruitme

practices. Ifd. at 233). To allege scienter, Piaifs’ rely on the same allegations

regarding Defendants’ knowledge that thalleged to demonstrate that statemer

174

O

Nt

D

Its

regarding enrolliment and marketing practicesyi@ I) were false. For the same reasons

the Court noted with rega to Count I, Plaintiffs have ilad to adequately plead scientsg
with respect to Defendants’ &wledge that the statementgyhmade regarding Apollo’s
integrity and business ethiagre materially false.
4, Business Focus (Count I11)
Plaintiffs allege that Defendants madeten@lly false and nsleading statementg

regarding Apollo’s busiess focus, such as:

e “Our primary focus is mviding the highest-qualityeducational product and
services for our students in order for them to maximize the benefits througf
educational experience.ld( at 11 238, 240).

e “Retention continues to be the number émeus at Apollo as it impacts so many

aspects of our results including enrolimemevenue, profit levels, bad debt, an
student default rates.”ld at 1 239).

e ‘“we are intensely focused on studentsess and better identifying and enrollin
students who have a reasonable chansitoeed in our rigorous program.ld.(
at 1 245).
Plaintiffs alleges that these and simiktatements “were nherially false and

misleading because Apollo’sipcipal focus was on enrollingtudents in its institutions,
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regardless of their suitability for college ¢meir likelihood of success, and not or
providing high quality educationgroducts and services to gtudents in order for them
to maximize the benefit of their educatioredperience or on changing lives throug
education. To the contrgrpollo’s recruiting practicesed to the enrollment of a

student body the majority of which would never earn a degrée.’at(f 248).

To allege scienter, Plaintiffs’ rely adhe same allegations regarding Defendanfs

knowledge that statementgyeeding enrollment and marketj practices (Count |) were
false. For the same reasons the Court noiddregard to Count I, Plaintiffs have faile(
to adequately plead scienter with respecD&dendants’ knowledge that the statemer
they made regarding Apollo’s busssefocus were materially false.

Based on the foregoing, Plaintiffs haaded to meet the pleading requirements

h

—

Its

to

adequately plead securities fraud based lgedly false and misleading stateme;]\s
I

made by Defendants and Counts | (#dment and revenue growth), Il (financi
condition), IV (business foclsand Il (organizational values and management integr
of Plaintiffs’ Amended Consolidated Gla Action Complaint must be dismissed.

B. INSIDER TRADING (Counts| and VII)

In Counts V and VII, Plaintiffs allegthat, during the Class Period, Defendar

John Sperling, Peter Sperling, Joseph D’Amniand William Pepicello sold Apollo stock

while in possession of material, adverse, pablic information inviolation of sections
10(b) and 20A of the Exelmge Act and Securitien@ Exchange Commission Rul

10(b)-5.
20A of the Exchange Act provides,

Xa) Private rights of action bad on contemporaneous trading
ny person who violates any prision of this chapter or the
rules or regulations therader by purchasing or selling a
security while in possession of material, nonpublic
information_shall be liable inan action in any court of
competent jurisdictioto any person wha,ontemporaneously
with the purchase or sale ofcseities that is the subject of
such violation, has purchasedh@ve such violation is based
on a sale of securities) or sqldhere such violation is based
on a purchase of securities) setes of the same class.

15 U.S.C.A. § 78t-1(a).
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Plaintiffs’ insider trading allegatiorere based on Defendants knowledge that

statements alleged in Counts I-IV ofettAmended Consolidated Class Action we

materially false and misleading. Becausaimiffs have failed to adequately alleif

scienter with regard to thesstatements, Plaintiffs haveot adequately alleged th
Defendants were in possession of maten@hpublic information and thus, Counts V ar
VIl must be dismissed.

C. CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY (Count VI)

In Count VI, Plaintiffsallege that, during the ClasPeriod, Defendants Joh
Sperling, Peter Sperling, Joseph D’Amidgeregory Capelli, Charte Edelstein, Brian
Swartz, Brian Mueller, and Ggery Iverson violated sectia?20(a) of the Exchange Act
because each was a controlling person whoduatt and supervisory involvement i
day-to-day operations of Apolland, as such, each is joynand severally liable for the
violations of section 10(b)a Rule 10(b)-5 of the Exchanget described in Count 1.

Pursuant to § 20(a) of the Exchange Act:

(a) Every person who, directlgr indirectly, controls any
person liable under anyagurision of this title or of any rule or
regulation thereunder shall albe liable jointly and severally
with and to the same extent sisch controlled person to any
person to whom such controll@érson is liable (including to
the Commission in any action brought under paragraph (1) or
(3) of section 21(d)), unlessdhcontrolling person acted in
good faith and did not directly andirectly induce the act or
acts constituting the violatn or cause of action.

Because the Court has found that Ri#im have failed to adequately alleg
violations of 10(b) an@& 10(b)-5, Plaintiffs have necesibafailed to establish a violation
of § 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Aadingly, Count IV must be dismissed.

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing,

IT IS ORDERED that Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Amended Consolidat
Class Action Complaint (Doc. 117) is granted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants’ Motion regarding Non
Compliance with ER 4.2 (Doc. 115) is denied as moot.
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The Clerk of the Court shall tar judgment for Defendants.

Dated this 22nd day of June, 2012.

-

4
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James A. Teilborg /
United States District Judge




